In the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia

No 18-0426



Mark Andrew Gomez, Executor of the Estate of Aurelio Rafael Gomez, MD., deceased,
Defendant/Third-Party Plaintiff & Counter Claimant Below, Petitioner

and

David Brent Gomez and
Robert Brian Gomez,
Defendants Below

v.

Andrea Gomez Smith and Matthew Eric Gomez, D.O.
Plaintiffs and Counter Defendants Below, Respondent

Circuit Court of Kanawha County
Civil Action Nos. 17-P-402 and 17-C-1292

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Mark Gomez
For Himself, in his individual capacity
As Executor of the Estate of Aurelio Rafael Gomez
3500 Staunton Avenue, S.E.
Suite 7
Charleston, WV 25304
(304) 410-1982
markgomez1111@gmail.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASES

On November 2, 2015, Margaret Jo Ann Gomez died after a long and debilitating illness. (PA-298) Two days after Margaret died, Andrea Gomez Smith and Matthew Eric Gomez entered Margaret and Rafael’s home safe and Andrea Gomez Smith took the entirety of Margaret’s jewelry, including a 3.8 carat diamond engagement ring. (PA-300) The total value of the jewelry being something over \$100,000. (PA-71) Margaret did not want Andrea Gomez Smith to have her jewelry especially her engagement ring. (PA-71, 299) Margaret wanted Robert to receive her engagement ring at her death. (PA-71) Margaret and Rafael’s second born son, David Gomez, was the only child

to be entrusted with the keys to the safe containing their personal property. (PA-70) Matthew Eric Gomez called David and told him that "Dad wants to know where is the key to the safe " (PA-299) This statement was untrue and a subterfuge to gain access to Margaret's jewelry as Rafael was not concerned with anything other than the loss of his wife and was understandably experiencing great mourning and grief. (PA-299)

In December 2016, Aurelio Rafael Gomez was diagnosed with brain cancer. This diagnosis was made just seven (7) weeks after his wife of 53 years had died. Upon learning of his terminal condition, Rafael's thoughts turned to the bounty of his estate and how he should bequeath his properties. (PA-67) Rafael was very transparent with this intentions and discussed with all his children his final wishes. In particular, Andrea Gomez Smith objected to Rafael making an *inter vivos* transfer to her, Robert and Matthew of the "farm property," approximately 10 acres of unimproved land located in Kanawha County telling Rafael she did not want to own any of the parcel with Robert as a joint tenant wanted Rafael to give her the valuable parcels and Robert the unusable "ravine" parcel. (PA-69-70)

Andrea Gomez Smith became disgruntled and wrote a letter to Rafael and provided a copy to each of her siblings titled "Unfair Property Divide." (PA-70)

After writing the "Unfair Property Divide" letter, Andrea Gomez Smith expressed her anger by engaging in a course of conduct designed to harass Rafael and the brothers that were looking after Rafael. Robert, a Florida resident, came home to spend time with his father. (PA-67) During this time, at Rafael's, request and direction, Robert demanded that Andrea Gomez Smith return the taken jewelry to Rafael. (PA-72) Andrea Gomez Smith responded and retaliated by applying for and being granted a restraining order against Robert. (PA-72)

Andrea Gomez Smith then called the Kanawha Adult Protective Services reporting that Rafael was being abused, both financially and physically, by Mark Gomez. (PA-70) APS workers investigated the allegations and found them to be unfounded (PA-280). Rafael was working for Highland Hospital as a physician at the time of this interview and investigation.(PA-72)

Expressing his disappointment and irritation with Andrea Gomez Smith, he handwrote a letter addressed to her and copied to all of his children, telling her “you have to quit that notion that you have the right to promote legal and criminal problems against other members of the family.” (PA-282) The last time that Andrea Gomez Smith saw her father was on April 25, 2016, her birthday, when he went to her house to deliver a birthday gift, a Christian Cross necklace. While Rafael was busy selecting what he thought to be an appropriate gift, Andrea Gomez Smith, was herself busy researching the County records to ascertain the real properties owned by him.

In June, 2016, Rafael consulted West Virginia licensed attorney, Robert M. Fletcher for estate planning advice and based on these consultations, Attorney Fletcher drafted a Last Will and Testament and presided over and supervised the execution of said Last Will and Testament in his law office on June 14, 2016. (PA-286)

According to the terms of the Last Will and Testament, Rafael’s sons, defendants Mark Andrew Gomez, David Brent Gomez and Robert Brian Gomez were named beneficiaries. All three received specific bequests and Robert was named to be beneficiary of the “rest, residue and remainder” of his estate upon death. His other two children, Andrea Gomez Smith and Matthew Eric Gomez, the plaintiffs, were specifically excluded from Rafael’s Will for “personal reasons.” Rafael nominated his oldest son, Mark Gomez, to be the Executor of his estate upon his death. According to the estate plan devised by Rafael and Attorney Fletcher, most of Rafael’s property was

transferred *inter vivos*. At the time of his death, Rafael owned real estate and a corporation in his birth country of Colombia and owned two (2) deferred compensation accounts having a value of approximately \$75,000 that he earned while an employee of the State of West Virginia. These deferred compensation accounts were administered and held by defendant Great-West Life and Annuity Insurance Company, a Colorado corporation doing business in West Virginia as Empower Retirement. At the time of his death, the only property he still owned in the United States was this \$75,000 held by Empower Retirement.

Rafael died on May 4, 2017 at the Hospice House in Charleston. Thirty one (31) days after Rafael's death, Andrea Gomez Smith, presented herself to the Kanawha Probate and Fiduciary Commissioner's Office, and applied to become the Administrator of Rafael's Estate claiming under sworn testimony that Rafael had died intestate. Based upon her sworn testimony (PA-294) and the posting of a \$500,000 probate fiduciary bond issued by Western Surety Company, the Kanawha Probate and Fiduciary Supervisor appointed Andrea Gomez Smith as the Administratrix of the Estate of Aurelio Rafael Gomez.

Thirty three (33) days after Rafael's death, Mark Gomez learned that Andrea Gomez Smith had been named the Administratrix of the Estate just two days before.

The next day, Mark Gomez, presented Rafael's Last Will and Testament dated June 14, 2016, (PA-283-286) to the Kanawha Probate and Fiduciary Commissioner's Office and said office issued its *Order Revoking Administratrix Appointing Executor* (PA-289) appointing Mark Gomez as Executor, to serve without bond, per the instructions of the Rafael's Will. The *Order Revoking Administratrix Appointing Executor* directed Andrea Gomez Smith to relinquish and turn over all papers and property (PA-289) belonging to the Estate of Aurelio Rafael Gomez to Mark

Gomez, the Executor. Her attorney at the time, David R. Karr, Jr., Esq., stated Andrea Gomez Smith had no estate property in her possession. (PA-290-292)

Civil Action 17-C-1292

Upon review of the Estate property and assets, Mark Gomez determined that Andrea Gomez Smith had taken approximately \$120,000 of their mother's jewelry, including the 3.8 carat diamond ring, from the Estate without justification or legal authority.

Thereafter, she sought and obtained a restraining order against Robert,. (TR-72) Subsequently, Andrea Gomez Smith contacted the Kanawha Adult Protective Services making a complaint that Rafael was in a state of physical and financial abuse by Mark Gomez. (PA-72) Upon interviewing Rafael, who was working for Highland Hospital as a physician at the time, the APS investigator found her allegations to be unfounded. After April 25, 2016, Andrea Gomez Smith's birthday, she never called Rafael or visited him before his death on May 4, 2017.

On September 13, 2017, Mark Gomez as Executor of the Estate of Aurelio Rafael Gomez, filed Civil Action 17-C-1292, making a Complaint demanding that Andrea Gomez Smith return Margaret's jewelry. (PA-274-279) Margaret had died intestate and by operation of law, her property transferred to Rafael as her husband. However, this legal transfer of property rights from Margaret to Rafael would not possible until Margaret's estate had been probated. Andrea Gomez Smith took the property from Margaret and Rafael's safe two days after Margaret's death, a time when Margaret's estate was not eligible to be administered. When Rafael did become the Administrator of Margaret's estate, he demanded the return of the jewelry and specifically Margaret's diamond ring from Andrea Gomez Smith by hand-written letter. (PA-280-282)

Facts of 17-P-402

Subsequently, on October 25, 2017, Andrea Gomez Smith and Matthew Eric Gomez, the disowned heirs of the Estate of Aurelio Rafael Gomez, filed a Will Contest/Impeachment alleging that Rafael lacked the testamentary capacity to make his June 14, 2016 Last Will and Testament. This June 14, 2016 Last Will and Testament was made under the supervision of licensed West Virginia attorney, Robert M. Fletcher. (PA-286)

The plaintiffs made specific claims against Mark Gomez, personally, that he exerted undue influence over Rafael, converted Estate property and generally “committed fraud” and sought for Mark Gomez to be removed as Executor and Andrea Gomez Smith to be named the “Executor” of the Last Will and Testament of the same Will that they claimed to be invalid.

In their Complaint, the plaintiffs published portions and exact excerpts from Rafael’s personal and private medical records. (PA-18-22) Andrea Gomez Smith had obtained these medical records when she was appointed Administratrix by Kanawha Probate and Fiduciary Commissioner for a two day period, June 5 to June 7, 2017. When the Probate Commissioner revoked Andrea Gomez Smith appointment as Administratrix, she was ordered to relinquish all property belonging to the Estate to the newly appointed Executor. Executor Mark Gomez sent written correspondence to Andrea Gomez Smith requesting the return of all property. Andrea Gomez Smith filed a “Final Inventory, by and through West Virginia attorney, David Karr, averring that she had returned all property to the Estate. (PA-290-292) Despite this sworn testimony, Andrea Gomez Smith kept possession of Rafael’s medical records and excerpts and portions of the medical records were published *verbatim* in her Complaint. (TR-18-22).

Mark Gomez filed an Answer on behalf of the Estate as Executor, as well as in his personal capacity, to the allegations of the Will Contest Complaint. (PA-77-99) On behalf of the Estate, the Executor counterclaimed that the plaintiffs had violated Rafael's state privacy rights as set by the Federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA). The HIPAA Privacy Rule applies to the individually identifiable health information of a decedent for 50 years following the date of death of the individual. (See CFE § 160.103 *Definition of "Protected Health Information"* ¶ (2)(iv).)

On his personal behalf, Mark Gomez counterclaimed that he had been the victim of plaintiffs' defamation per se by publishing the untrue assertion that Mark Gomez "is a convicted felon" when they knew such assertion to be untrue.

Defendant Kayla Addison

Along with the Answer, Executor Mark Gomez filed a third-party claim against Kayla Addison for interference with Rafael's banking and business relations with City National Bank and outrageous conduct that arose while Rafael was alive. Defendant Addison failed to file a timely responsive pleading after having been served with Summons and Third-party Complaint. Executor Mark Gomez filed a Motion for Default as to Liability of Kayla Addison due to her counsel's neglect. Prompted by the default motion, defendant Addison's trial counsel filed a belated Motion to Dismiss citing improper joinder of defendant Addison to the will contest.

Defendant Empower Retirement

As Executor, Mark Gomez filed a third-party claim against Empower Retirement demanding payment of the proceeds of the Deferred Compensation Accounts in the approximate amount of \$75,000. Immediately after filing their Complaint, attorney of record, Richard F. Neely, Esq., wrote

to Empower Retirement requesting them to hold the \$75,000 retirement proceeds from the Executor of the Estate. Attorney Neely did not provide a courtesy copy of the letter to the Executor. Upon request, Empower Retirement employees refused to provide a copy of Neely's letter to the Executor did read it to the Executor over the phone. Based upon Neely's letter, Empower Retirement refused to relinquish the funds to the Estate. The Neely letter addressed to Empower has not been entered into the trial record.

Western Surety

Additionally, Mark Gomez, as Executor, had Andrea Gomez Smith's fiduciary bond company, Western Surety Company, served with notice of both Civil Action 17-P-402 and 17-C-2912 by the Secretary of State, as the Estate was making a claim against Andrea Gomez Smith's \$500,000 fiduciary bond for retaining the \$120,000 worth of jewelry or the proceeds from the sale of such, in her possession while she was Administratrix, as well as a claim for breach of fiduciary duty by publishing Rafael's person and private medical records that she had obtained during her two day stint as Administratrix. The Estate alleged that Andrea Gomez Smith breached her fiduciary duty as Administratrix by deliberately failing to return said medical records to the Estate as Ordered by the Kanawha Probate and Fiduciary Commissioner. The Estate alleged no tort claims against Western Surety Company.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The plaintiffs in the Will Contest of 17-P-402 failed to present any evidence to support their allegations of conversion, undue influence and fraud. Defendants Mark Gomez and the Estate filed both a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) Failure to State a Claim and a Motion for Summary Judgment with supporting affidavits but the defendants failed to present evidence or

provide a Rule 56 Affidavit explaining why discovery should be had.

Third party defendants Kayla Addison and Empower Retirement failed to timely file a responsive pleading after proper service of the third party complaint. Both defendants failed to offer and excuse for this neglect to the trial judge and the Estate is entitled to default judgment.

Western Surety Company is not a defendant to this lawsuit but an interested party to the proceedings as a guarantor of Andrea G. Smith's probate fiduciary bond and must receive notice of the lawsuit against her.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Your Petitioner states that oral argument is necessary pursuant to the criteria of Rule 18(a) and believes the case should be set for a Rule 20 oral argument as the issues present a case of first impression under West Virginia law and an issue of fundamental importance to the public as to whether a non-attorney Executor may represent the Estate in the circuit courts. Your Petitioner recognizes that as a pro se litigant he may not be entitled to present oral argument.

ARGUMENT

The presiding judge issued two orders after the April 2, 2018 motions hearing, to wit:

1. The *Neely Order*

Pursuant to direction of the trial court, Richard F. Neely, Esq. drafted an Order that was executed and filed in Civil Action 17-P-402 on April 17, 2018 (hereinafter referred to as the "*Neely Order*") with the court writing:

"the court finds the first four motions entirely without merit and finds that the fifth motion to consolidate civil actions is premature because Civil Action 17-C-1292 was filed by Mark Gomez as executor at a time when Mark Gomez was not a member of the West Virginia Bar

licensed to practice law in this State and, therefore, the Complaint in 17-C-1292 was void *ab initio*.”

Continuing, Attorney Neely wrote for the trial court:

“Because the issue of fraud perpetrated on the decedent is *factual and legally intertwined* with the issues of coercion, undue influence, and alleged fraud with regard to the preparation and execution of the will, the claims concerning misappropriation before the decedents death are properly joined with the will contest and the demand for the return of such property as may have been misappropriated under the defective will.” (Emphasis added)

2. The Pullin Order

2) The Order prepared by Gary E. Pullin, Esq., counsel of record for defendants Western Surety Company and Andrea Gomez Smith, was executed and filed on May 9, 2018 (hereinafter referred to as the “*Pullin Order*”) and entered in Civil Action 17-C-1292. The circuit court applied the same findings, conclusions of law and effect of the *Pullin Order* in 17-P-402 writing:

“Whereupon Defendants were appearing before the Court on other pleadings brought in the companion case of 17-P-402 and brought before the court motions similar to those raised in the instant case.”

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 1

In the *Pullin Order*, the trial court concluded that this Court “has not yet formulated a syllabus point as to whether an executor of an estate who is not a duly licensed attorney, can appear on behalf of the estate in a representative capacity in a court of law...” (PA-9)

The trial court concluded that as “an artificial legal entity,” a probate estate should be compared with a corporation. It is well settled in West Virginia that “A corporation cannot act pro

se but must act, in all of its affairs, through an agent or representative.” *Shenandoah Sales & Serv., Inc. v. Assessor of Jefferson Cnty*, 228 W.Va. 762, 724 S.E.2d at 429. As such, Western Surety, rather than provide a defense based on the facts of the case, attempts to financially cripple and deplete Rafael’s \$75,000 (TR-21)Estate by forcing it to hire an attorney. However, due to Empower Retirement’s refusal to relinquish the retirement proceeds to the Estate based solely upon Attorney Neely’s letter, the Estate has no money to hire an attorney and no assets to sell from the Estate to fund this expense.

The trial record shows that after the Executor had several initial consultations with local attorneys , but the Estate has no money to hire an attorney as Empower holds the proceeds. In this case, the out-of-state corporation, that must be represented by a licensed West Virginia attorney, is defending its bonded fiduciary, not by disputing the facts of the case and applying well settled West Virginia law, but through litigation designed to drain the Estate and dissipate Rafael’s bequest of the “rest, residue and remainder” of his Estate due his son Robert Gomez.

Your Executor is faced with a legal dilemma. The executor’s oath is found at W.Va. Code §44-1-3:

The oath of an executor, or of an administrator with the will annexed, shall be that the writing admitted to record contains the true last will and testament of the deceased, as far as he knows or believes, and that he will faithfully perform the duties of his office to the best of his skill and judgment.

As your Petitioner told the trial court, “But as far as me practicing law, they filed a lawsuit against the estate. I want to hire an attorney but I have no money.” (TR-24) When the Estate was served with Summons and Complaint, the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure engaged and the

Estate had 20 days to file an answer. Mark Gomez, being named a defendant separate and apart from the Estate also had 20 days to file a responsive pleading. Without Estate funds to hire an attorney, the Executor “faithfully performed the duties of his office to the best of his skill and judgment” filed an Answer on behalf of the estate, made a third party complaint against Empower Retirement, the out of state corporation that held the Estate’s funds and would not release the funds to the Executor, Additionally, Kayla Addison, a City National Bank employee was made a third party defendant for her alleged interference with Rafael’s banking relations and her outrageous conduct toward him, during his life. There was a nexus between the counterclaim Mark Gomez asserted against Andrea Gomez Smith and the third party complaint brought against Kayla Addison. At ¶ 34 of the *Answer & First Amended Counterclaims & First Amended Third Party Complaint*, it was alleged,

“34. Continuing her interference with Rafael’s life, at some point, the exact date being unknown, Andrea Smith told Kayla Addison, Lisa Francis’s replacement as the branch manager at the City National Bank in Kanawha City, that her father, A. Rafael Gomez, M.D. was incompetent to handle his banking affairs.” (PA-86).

It appeared that the *res gestae* of the case included Addison and the time was ripe to bring th claim as the same facts and circumstance and legal arguments would occur if brought as separate cases or the Estate may loss the claim due to the shortened statute of limitations for bringing Estate claims for injuries to the decedent during life.

If your Executor did not file responsively pleadings, the case would have gone into default and your Executor would have breached his fiduciary oath of W.Va. Code §44-1-3 for not faithfully perform the duties of his office to the best of his skill and judgment. Without doubt, Attorney Neely would have brought a Motion for Default against the Estate. This is not speculative, as Neely did

in deed and fact file a Motion for Default after the entries of the Pullin and Neely Orders striking all of the Estate's pleadings. (PA-268-272)

Your Executor shows that if he had not filed the Answer, the allegations of plaintiffs' Complaint would have been deemed admitted and the Last Will and Testament of Aurelio Rafael Gomez impeached and his fiduciary duty to the Estate breached.

The second part of the dilemma is that filing these pleadings has been alleged to be an unauthorized practice of law by out-of-state corporation Western Surety Company, out-of-state corporation Great West Life and Annuity Insurance Company doing business in this State as Empower Retirement and Kayla Addison.

The *Pullin Order* found, "as a matter of law, that the Gomez Estate is, and was at all times relevant to any of the filings submitted in this matter, not a 'natural person' but artificial legal entity like a corporation." (PA-12)

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