DO NOT REMOVE FILE COPY
FROM FILE
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 18-0426

(Underlying Kanawha County Civil Action Nos. 17-P-402 & 17-C-1292)

MARK GOMEZ, Executor of the Estate of Aurelio Rafael Gomez, M.D.

Petitioner

and

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court properly found that West Virginia law does not permit a non-attorney executor to file legal pleadings on behalf of an estate for the reason that such action constitutes the unauthorized practice of law on behalf of another. Petitioner has brought the instant Appeal, and the underlying actions, in the stated capacity as the executor of the estate of his late father, Aurelio Gomez, as a *pro se* litigant. Petitioner formerly practiced law prior to pleading guilty to felony theft by conversion in 2001 whereby he surrendered his law license as part of a disciplinary proceeding before the Georgia Bar – Petitioner is not a licensed attorney in this state.

The majority of states have found that an executor cannot engage in *pro se* legal representation of an estate for the reasons that the beneficiaries and creditors to the estate are owed a duty of competent legal representation. Petitioner has attempted to cure this issue by joining two of his brothers, David and Robert, as claimed beneficiaries to the estate as named parties to the civil action. However, a beneficiary cannot be a proper party to such litigation as beneficiaries only have an expectant interest and do not have standing to proceed as a stand-in for the legal entity of the estate. By law, it is the executor who is charged with the exclusive duty to represent the interests of an estate, however a non-lawyer executor is not permitted to practice law in the representation of the interests of another in the courts of West Virginia. Thus, this Honorable Court should affirm the decision of the Circuit Court that an executor cannot proceed *pro se* in the legal representation of an estate in a West Virginia court.

The Circuit Court properly struck all pleadings filed on behalf of the Estate of Aurelio Gomez as improperly filed and dismissed the Third Party Complaints against These Respondents, in addition to other pleadings that were also improperly filed. The West Virginia

Trial Court Rules and the Rules of Civil Procedure specify that all pleadings in legal proceedings must be filed by a licensed attorney except when filed in a *pro se* capacity. An estate cannot represent itself in a *pro se* capacity where it is not a natural person. Thus, any pleadings filed for the estate must be signed by a licensed attorney. Any pleading filed by a non-attorney is in contempt of court and is void *ab initio*. Where a pleading is improperly filed, it is a nullity upon which no relief may be granted. Thus, this Honorable Court should affirm the decision of the Circuit Court to strike all pleadings improperly filed by Petitioner on behalf of the Estate as nullities.

Lastly, Petitioner has improperly brought the instant Appeal where, again, he is a non-lawyer seeking to represent the legal interests of the Estate in a West Virginia Court and in violation of the *Order* of the Circuit Court to cease further legal representation of the Estate without the benefit of a licensed attorney. Additionally, Petitioner has untimely filed his *Petitioner's Brief* beyond the expiration of the deadline to perfect the appeal without demonstrating "good cause" pursuant to Rule of Appellate Procedure 5. Thus, this Honorable Court should dismiss the instant appeal as defective and counter to the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure.

V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to the criteria set forth in Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, Respondent does not believe that the deliberation process would be aided by oral argument in this matter as the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal.

VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court has previously determined that when reviewing a motion to strike: “challenges to findings of fact are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard; conclusions of law are reviewed de novo.” *State v. Hedrick*, 236 W.Va. 217, 223, 778 S.E.2d 666, 672 (2015) *citing* Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Messer*, 223 W.Va. 197, 672 S.E.2d 333 (2008); Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Davis*, 199 W.Va. 84, 483 S.E.2d 84 (1996).

Rule 12(b)(1) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure provides that a defendant may assert as a defense by motion raising lack of jurisdiction over the subject matter. Once it is determined that a court has no jurisdiction to entertain the subject matter of a civil action, the court must take no action other than to dismiss it from the docket. *See* Syl. Pt. 1, *Hinkle v. Bauer Lumber & Home Bldg. Center, Inc.*, 158 W.Va. 492, 211 S.E.2d 705 (1975). Hearing matters outside of the pleadings of a rule 12(b)(1) motion does not convert the motion into a Rule 56 summary judgment motion. *See* Cleckley, Davis, and Palmer, *Litigation Handbook on West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure*, §12(b)(1)[2] (2006) *citing* *Toxgon Corp. v. BNFL, Inc.*, 312 F.3d 1379 (Fed. Cir. 2002). The burden of proving subject matter jurisdiction is always upon the party asserting subject matter jurisdiction exists. *See* *Litigation Handbook* at §12(b)(1)[2] *citing* *Robinson v. Overseas Military Sales Corp.*, 21 F.3d 502 (2d Cir. 1994).

Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure provides that the defendants may assert as a defense by motion failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. In reviewing a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief may be granted, the Court must construe the complaint in a light most favorable to the plaintiff, and its allegations are to be taken as true. *See* *John W. Lodge Dist. Co. v. Texaco, Inc.*, 161 W.Va. 603, 605, 245

S.E.2d 157, 158 (1978). This liberal standard does not relieve a plaintiff of his or her obligation to present a valid claim. *See Wilhelm v. West Virginia Lottery*, 198 W.Va. 92, 96-97, 459 S.E.2d 602, 606-07 (1996). If the Court finds beyond a doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim that would entitle him to relief, the court should dismiss the complaint. *See Owen v. Board of Educ.*, 190 W.Va. 677, 678, 441 S.E.2d 398, 399 (1994). Dismissal for failure to state a claim is proper where it is clear that no relief could be granted under any set of facts that could be proven consistent with the allegations in the complaint. *See W.Va. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6); Estate of Hough v. Estate of Hough*, 205 W.Va. 537, 544, 519 S.E.2d 640, 647 (1999). The singular purpose of a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim is to seek a determination as to whether the plaintiff is entitled to offer evidence to support claims made in the complaint. *See Dimon v. Mansy*, 198 W.Va. 40, 479 S.E.2d 339, n.5 (1996) *citing Scheuer v. Rhodes*, 416 U.S. 232, 236, 94 S.Ct. 1683, 1686, 40 L.Ed.2d 90 (1974). Lastly, a court may consider exhibits attached to or referred to in the complaint without converting a Rule 12 Motion to Dismiss into a Rule 56 Motion for Summary Judgment. *See Syl. Pt. 1, Forshey v. Jackson*, 222 W.Va. 743, 671 S.E.2d 748 (2008). A court may also consider, without such conversion, those matters susceptible to judicial notice. *See id.*, 222 W.Va. at 748, 671 S.E.2d at 753.

Rule 12(f) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure functions as a motion to strike to avoid the expenditure of time and money that arises from litigating spurious issues, by dispensing with those issues prior to trial. *See Cleckley, Davis, and Palmer, Litigation Handbook on West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure*, §12(f)[2] (2006) *citing Kennedy v. City of Cleveland*, 797 F.2d 297 (6th Cir. 1986). The trial court has the discretion to extend the time to permit a motion to strike and has authority to consider the motion on its own initiative. *See*

Litigation Handbook at §12(f)[2] citing *Lunsford v. United States*, 570 F.2d 221 (8th Cir. 1977).

A motion under Rule 12(f) goes to whether a particular defense is proper based upon the conduct alleged in the complaint and the law applicable thereto. See *Roberts v. Consolidation Coal Co.*, 208 W.Va. 218, 231, 539 S.E.2d 478, 491 (2000).

Lastly, West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 5(f) specifies that “A motion that is filed with this Court to extend time to perfect an appeal must comply with Rule 29 and must state with particularity the reasons why an extension is necessary.” W.Va. R. App. P. 5(f). In *Rose v. Thomas Mem'l Hosp. Found., Inc.*, 208 W.Va. 406, 412–13, 541 S.E.2d 1, 7–8 (2000), this Court recognized that any request to enlarge the time for an appeal requires “a showing of good cause.” In *W.Va. Dep't of Energy v. Hobet Min. & Const. Co.*, 178 W.Va. 262, 264, 358 S.E.2d 823, 825 (1987), this Court, in discussing good cause, recognized that “[t]hese rules allow the court to take into account the parties’ administrative problems such as lack of a transcript or the death or reassignment of an attorney.” However, this Court also stated that a party’s request “to enlarge time must usually be made before the fact.” *Id.*

VII. ARGUMENT

A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 1: THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT FOUND, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT ALL PLEADINGS AND OTHER SUBMISSIONS FILED BY THE NON-LAWYER PETITIONER, AS *PRO SE* EXECUTOR, ARE VOID *AB INITIO* AND ARE HEREBY DEEMED A NULLITY.

The practice of law, both in court and out of court, by a person not licensed to practice is an illegal usurpation of the privilege of a duly licensed attorney at law; and the privilege to practice law is personal to the holder of such privilege. See *West Virginia State Bar v. Earley*, 144 W.Va. 504, 518, 109 S.E.2d 420, 430 (1959). By statute it is a misdemeanor for any person

to practice law in West Virginia without first having been duly licensed and admitted to practice in a court of record in this State. *See id* 144 W.Va. at 515, 109 S.E.2d at 429; West Virginia Code §30-2-4. The West Virginia Code sets forth the statutory conditions for the misdemeanor unauthorized practice of law:

(a) It is unlawful for any person to practice or appear as an attorney-at-law for another in a court in this state or to make it a business to solicit employment for any attorney, or to hold himself or herself out to the public or any member thereof as being entitled to practice law ... without first having been duly and regularly licensed and admitted to practice law in the courts of this state, and without having subscribed and taken the oath required by the provisions of section three of this article.

(b) Any person violating the provisions of subsection (a) of this section is guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined not more than \$5,000, or confined in jail not more than ninety days, or both fined and confined....

West Virginia Code §30-2-4. The unauthorized practice of law is not limited to the conduct of cases before courts but also includes services rendered outside of court such as:

the preparation and other papers incident to actions and special proceedings and the management of such actions and proceedings on behalf of clients before judges and courts, and in addition conveyancing, the preparation of legal instruments of all kinds, and in general all advice to clients and all action taken for them in matters connected with the law.

Id. Further, Rule 4.03 of the West Virginia Trial Court Rules states:

Every party to proceedings before any court, except parties appearing *pro se*, shall be represented by a person admitted to practice before the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia and in good standing as a member of its bar and may be represented by a visiting attorney as provided by Rule 4.02.

Lastly, Rule 11(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure requires that “every pleading, motion and other paper shall be signed by at least one attorney of record in the

attorney's individual name, or, if the party is not represented by an attorney, shall be signed by the party.” An unverified complaint that is not signed in the name of the complainant nor by responsible counsel acting for him cannot be treated as a pleading upon which either to grant or decline relief. *See Morris v. Gates*, 124 W.Va. 275, 20 S.E.2d 118 (1942).

The Estate's initial pleadings in 17-P-402 or 17-C-1292 were not signed by a duly licensed attorney admitted to practice before the Supreme Court of Appeals. As such, all subsequent actions in those cases have been improper as the operative pleadings are defective on their face as their filings constitutes the unauthorized practice of law where Petitioner is seeking to represent the Estate, and its beneficiaries and creditors, without the assistance and counsel of a licensed attorney of record.

1. A Non-Lawyer Engaging in the Representation of Another Does Not Have Standing

Standing “is an element of jurisdiction over the subject matter.” *State ex rel. Abraham Linc Corp. v. Bedell*, 216 W.Va. 99, 111, 602 S.E.2d 542, 559 (2004). The strict regulation and control of persons who render legal services is necessary and essential to the welfare of the public at large.

A court of equity has jurisdiction to prevent by injunction the unlawful practice of law by a layman when such relief is sought by attorneys at law acting for themselves and other affected members of the legal profession or by a duly constituted and recognized bar association.

Syl. Pt. 1, *West Virginia State Bar v. Earley*, 144 W.Va. 504, 109 S.E.2d 420 (1959). Though the right to practice law is not a natural or constitutional right or an absolute or *de jure* right, it is a valuable special privilege in the nature of a franchise which may be protected by injunction against invasion. *See id* 144 W.Va. at 516, 109 S.E.2d at 429. Rule 4.03 of the West Virginia

Trial Court Rules requires that every party to proceedings before any court must be represented by a person admitted to practice law before the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals unless that party appears *pro se*.

The pleadings filed by Petitioner in the instant appeal are not signed by a duly licensed attorney admitted to practice before the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals. As such, all pleadings filed by Petitioner in these actions have been improper and are defective on their face as their filing constitutes the unauthorized practice of law where Petitioner is seeking to represent the Estate, and its beneficiaries and creditors, without the assistance and counsel of a licensed attorney of record.

2. Neither an Estate Nor Its Personal Representative Can Appear in a *Pro Se* Capacity to Represent the Interests of Others in a West Virginia Court

A licensed attorney at law engages in the practice of law in three principal types of professional activity: 1) legal advice and instructions to clients to inform them of their rights and obligations; 2) preparation for clients of documents requiring knowledge of legal principles which is not possessed by an ordinary layman; and 3) appearance for clients before public tribunals, which possess the power and authority to determine rights of life, liberty, and property according to law. *See West Virginia State Bar v. Earley* 144 W.Va. at 520, 109 S.E.2d at 431. For the reasons stated herein, it is not possible for an estate, a legal entity much like that of a corporation, to represent itself in a *pro se* capacity. A duly appointed Executor or Administrator is the only party authorized to represent the interests of beneficiaries and creditors to an estate. However, such an Executor or Administrator is not authorized by the laws of West Virginia to represent the legal interests of an estate and its beneficiaries or creditors in a representative capacity such as that which exists between a lawyer and a client.

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